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We are grateful to Michael Pether for his detailed report on Banka Island, which was sent to Group Captain Michael
Longstaff OBE., RAF (British Defence Attache in Jakarta) before the commemorative visits in Muntok and service on Radji
Beach over the weekend of 15" and 16™ February. The report is entitled “A Broad Perspective” and lists the vessels sunk
or captured in the Banka Strait in the days leading up to and after the Fall of Singapore, on Radji Beach and elsewhere on
Banka Island. The actual numbers and names of those who lost their lives in this dark chapter of WW2 in the Far East will
never be fully identified. The fact that many people have now been named is largely down to Michael, whose angoing
research may reveal more hitherto unknown secrets of the tragedy of Banka Island. His report in the form of a booklet and
additional information entitled “Radji Beach, Banka Island” which lists the names of those who are known to have lost their
lives, are included with this newsletter. Please read them — they make for very revealing facts about the chaotic situation in
Singapore, which finally made the authorities accept that the urgent evacuation of skilled military and civilian man was a
priority, and that women and children should also be allowed to leave. By the middle of February this was too little too late
and the tragic consequences of the incompetence of the administration in Singapore are still being uncovered.
It has been a long, difficult and disappointing struggle to get a British representative to lay wreaths on behalf of British
subjects killed, drowned and interned on Banka Island after their ships were sunk or captured. It was with the help of our
good friend in Singapore, retired Australian Naval Officer, Lieutenant Commander Eruce Bird, who laid wreaths on behalf of
the British in 2018 and 2018 when no-one from the British High Commission in Singapore or the British Embassy in Jakarta
was able to attend the services, that Group Captain Longstaff agreed to attend this year. Two letters have been sent to the
new British High Commissioner in Singapore, Mrs. Kara Owen CVO, requesting that someone from the High Commission
should also attend the services in Muntok because this is where the sfgps and passengers came from. Sadly, to date, no
acknowledgement or reply has been received. The first letter, dated 3" January 2020 was e-mailed and followed up with a
printed copy sent in the post. The second, dated 20" February, was posted with Michael Pether's two reports. It is puzzling
and disappointing that neither letter has been acknowledged or answered by the British High Commissioner in Singapore.
One has to ask, why? The MVG may not be known to the new British High Commissioner, but that does not mean that our
letters should go unanswered. They were typed on headed notepaper with our details, website and loge, including the name
of our Patron. If anyone wishes to receive a copy of the letters, please ask Rosemary Fell.
\We are also enormously grateful to Judy Balcombe for her tireless efforts to bring to the attention of the world the plight of
those shipwrecked in the Banka Strait. The Peace Museum in Muntok has been built, funded and furnished with memorabilia
almost single handedly by Judy. |t was a huge undertaking and she should be very proud of her achievements — as we are.
Her report on this year's events and service on Radji Beach is included on Ps.20 - 22
The annual service in the City of Stirling Memorial Gardens, Perth, Western Australia took place on Saturday 15" February to
commemorate the Fall of Singapore 78 years ago. We thank Bill and Elizabeth Adamsen for arranging this service once
again. A full report will be issued to Australian members. Also the ‘Vyner Brooke’ service for the Australian Army Nurses.
\We thank MVG's secretary in Canada and the USA, Sallie Hammond, for keeping our members there in touch with each
other and with the UK.
Members in Malaysia and Singapore can now pay their subscriptions in ringgit to our secretary in Malaysia, Richard Parry,
unless payment is usually made directly into the MVG'’s UK bank account. This year, we are pleased that James Devadason
has agreed to represent the MVG and lay a wreath at the ceremony in God's Little Acre in Batu Gajah on Saturday 13" June.
VWe realize that the ceremony is in memory of the many expatriates who lost their lives during the Malayan Emergency Years
(1948 — B0) — Planters, Colonial Police Officers, Miners and Civilians - but many of our Volunteers came from these
communities pre-war and returned to them after the war.
Visit to Singapore.
To date, we are still planning to go ahead with our visit to Singapore in September, despite the ongoing worries about the
Coronavirus. Payment for the Historical Tour, Cricket Club Lunch and coach to Kranji will be deferred until June when a
clearer picture of the spread of the virus may be known. Please would you send Rosemary your names if you have not yet
booked for the Singapore visit. This does not commit you to anything yet, but numbers for the Tour and Lunch are required
so that we can decide whether to move to the Tanglin Club which can accommadate more people. The Victoria Room at the
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Singapore Cricket Club can only hold a maximum of 30 for a buffet lunch. This room has been booked at the moment, with
thanks to Meill and Morag Aitken.

An unexpected donation to MVG funds

MWG's funds are £100 better off as the result of some investigative work and a kind benefactor, A very genercus person
donated a bottle of "Aberlour” whisky as a draw prize at the annual lunch at the RAF Club last October. This was chosen by
chance by one of the winning draw ticket holders, who wishes to remain anonymous. He examined the bottle on his return
home, and discoversd that it was an unusual bottle of whisky and 33 years old. After further research, he realized that the
hottle could probably be sold for a reasonable sum due to its rarity value, and it made £100.

We thank both the giver of the whisky and the seller for this very welcome addition to MVG's funds.

Annual Subscriptions

Please note that annual subscriptions are due in April. The subscription rate remains at £20 per family, despite increasing
costs of printing and postage. Several subscriptions have already been paid, and we are very grateful to those members for
their prompt payment. If you have paid, please ignore the enclosed subscription letter.

HOT OFF THE PRESS

Contact with the UK High Commission in Singapore

With thanks to Neill and Morag Aitken and Tony Daintry, the MVG has managed to make contact with the British Defence
Adviser, Commander Martin Moore, at the Hi%h Commission in Singapore. He explained that the Commission was unable
to send a representative to Banka Island on 157 and 16" February because of the Cammission’s commitment to attend
services in Singapaore to mark the anniversary of the Fall of Singapore on 15" February 1942, \We are also informed that they
are fully involved in other Commemorative events associated with the 75" anniversary of the end of WW2. The V-J Day
Service will take place in Singapore on 12" August and in Thailand on 15" August 2020. ‘The Commemoration of the Signing
of the Peace’ service takes place on 12" September, and this is the service which the MVG is planning to attend. Finally, on
g™ November, members of the High Commission will take part in the annual Remembrance Sunday service in Singapore.
Notice from the RFH Group about the 7" International RFH Conference in Liverpool — 5" _ 7" June 2020 - cancelled
In the light of the growing worldwide uncertainty around the Coronavirus outbreak and its potential impact specifically upon
the UK over the coming months as well as the response to some concerns expressed by our delegates and speakers, the
Researching FEPOW History Group has regrettably decided that we need to postpone the conference scheduled for June
2020. We have deliberated long and hard over this decision and also consulted with our hosts, the Liverpool School of
Tropical Medicing.

This news is, of course, very disappainting for everyone, especially in this 75" anniversary year. However, with the growing
uncertainty and anxiety expressed by some of the conference participants who have existing health concerns, we have little
choice. We do not wish to put anyone at risk and we cannot run the conference without the required number of delegates
and, of course, our team of expert speakers.

The good news is that the Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine (LSTM) has agreed to host the postponed conference in
June 2021 (the precise dates to be confirmed). We very much hope that everyone who had planned to attend the conference
in June 2020 will be ahle to join us next year. More news will be posted on the researching FEPOW History website

https /ffepowhistory.com/blog/ as soon as we have the details for 2021, E-mails to all the delegates & speakers have been sent.
We would like to thank everyone for their support and understanding and we very much hepe to see you in Liverpool in June 2021.

THE INCREDIBLE STORY OF MOLLY BULL
With thanks to Michael Pether for his research into the survivors of the “Viyner Brooke”
Michael wrote on 12 February 20201
Yesterday [ had a long lelephone discussion with Molly Bull.
Molly, at age ninc years, and her 6 year old brother (at that time called “Rob-ben’ for intimate family reasons) jumped into
the sea from the listing, sinking “S§ Viyner Brooke” whilst their mother jumped in also holding their little 4 year old sister
Hazel, Currents swept Molly and her brother away down the Banka Strait from their mother, who ended up in Muntok and
Palembang etc. and survived (he war. Molly and her brother were first picked up by a Mrs. Pearson on a raft with a couple
of other men (including L. Arthur Mann the Radio Officer on the “Viner Brooke”) and then they were all rescued by four
sailors in a small lifeboat (or ‘skiff'). 'I'he story conlinues as they spent several weeks among the mangroves of Sumatra
heading [or Java. 'They ended up in the Banka Strait drifting through the midst of the battle of the Sunda Strail beingr totally
ignored by the batfleships and cruisers blasting cach other and the ships sinking all around them. Thoy reached a small
island, ‘Sangiang’, in the Strait and made it to the mainland of [ava, where (he Japanese and local Javanese captured therm and
beheaded an airman nicknamed ‘Carrot’ in front of the children before Mrs. Pearson (a Siamese woman and, [ believe, the
wife of Sgt. Bill Pearson 1/FMSVF - a mining cngineer in Malaya) look them to Batavia where they eventually entered
lidjeng internment camp. Post-war they were reunited with their parents back in Singapore after the personal intervention of
Lady Mountbatten.
Michael concludes: [t is one of the siorics that has riveted my attention for many years as the pieces of the puzzle came
together. 1 will be talking again with Molly and e-mailing ‘Rob-ben’ now using his real name Robert.
There are so many stories [rom the awful events around Banka Island.
[Editor: Also see AK. July 2010, “Miracle of Patsy Li" I'5].
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FORCE 136 AND THE LIBERATION OF MALAYA — THE CHINESE-CANADIAN CONNECTION
By Leslie A.K. James, George Town, Penang

[Ed. We are grateful to Lesley James for giving his permission to print this article which was pu blished in “The Expot” magazine, Kuala
Lumpur, Volume 88, January 2005, and in “bout de papier”, Canada's magazine of Diplomacy & Foreign Service, Volume 22, No: 1,
Ottawa, Spring 2006, It adds to Catherine Clement’s article {A.K.61 — Ps 19 & 20) by giving the names of those Chinese- Canadians
who were involved with Force 138].

In mid-1944, thirteen Chinese-Canadians were spending the summer in a remote camp on the shores of beautiful Okanagan
Lake in British Columbia. This, however, was no ordinary summer camp. The thirteen were learning skills to equip them for
one of the most dangerous aspects of warfare — special operations behind enemy lines in Japanese-occupied Southeast Asia.
The skills included wireless operation, small arms, demeolition, unarmed combat, silent killing, sabotage and boat work. The
Chinese-Canadians had been recruited for the lagendary Force 136 by “Mike” Kendall, a Canadian major in the British Army.
Before the war Kendall had worked in south China where he himself had been recruited by British intelligence before
escaping from Hong Kong as the colony fell to the Japanese on Christmas Day, 1941.

In early August 1945, five of the thirteen Chinese-Canadians, led by McGill University engineering graduate Roger Cheng,
landed from an RAAF Catalina flying boat on a stretch of the Rejang River some fifty kilometers from Sibu, Sarawak. Their
job was to help gather intelligence in preparation for landings by Allied forces.

Roger Cheng and his party were not the only Canadians to serve in Force 136. And they were not the only Chinese-
Canadians to do so. As many as 143 Chinese-Canadians were trained in special camps in India and Australia in response to a
request to Canada from Britain’s Special Operations Executive (SOE), the clandestine intelligence organisation known in Asia
as Force 136.

The first contact between Force 136 and the communist-led guerrillas of the Malayan People’s Anti-Japanese Army (MPAJA)
was in May 1943, when former Malayan police officer John Davis returned to Malaya by submarine. Davis negotiated an
agreement with Chin Peng, a young man later to become secretary general of the Malayan Communist party (MCP)] and
leader of the 1948-60 communist insurrection. The agreement signed with Davis in December 1943 placed the MPAJA
under the operational orders of Mountbatten’s Southeast Asia Command in return for training, weapons, explosives and
supplies. Britain wanted the MPAJA to be ready to strike the enemy from behind when British troops landed to liberate
Malaya. The mission of Force 136 was to train and supply the MPAJA,

Communications difficulties delayed news of the agreement reaching Mountbatten’s headquarters until February 1945 and
it was not until the middle of the year that significant numbers of Force 136 agents arrived in Malaya to prepare for
Operation Zipper, the amphibious invasion planned for September. Among those dropped into Malaya were three French
Canadians, who had worked with the French resistance behind enemy lines in France, and ten Chinese-Canadian sergeants.
Their task was to train the MPAJA in sabotage, ambush tactics and intelligence collection.

Nineteen-year-old Henry Fung of Vancouver parachuted into the area north of Kuala Lumpur in June, accampanying his
Force 136 unit to a camp near Kajang from where they helped to blow up a railway bridge. Two other Chinese-Canadians
from Vancouver operated with Force 136 in Selangor. Ted Wong and Bing Lee helped attack truck convoys and trains after
parachuting into the area in July. Bob Lew from Nipissing in northern Ontario and George Chin were also members of Force
136 units operating with the MPAJA in Selangor in July. An all-Canadian Force 136 unit operated in northern Johore in early
August. It was led by Joseph Benoit, a veteran of SOE operations in France and Burma, and included the group’s interpreter,
Chinese-Canadian Ernie Louie. Meanwhile, two more Chinese-Canadians, Charley Chung and Harry Ho, parachuted with
French Canadian Pierre Chasse in mid-July near Alor Star in Kedah from where they trekked north to Perlis, ambushing
Japanese convoys and sabotaging bridges along the way.

Blans for the Force 136 teams unexpectedly changed, however, with Japan’s surrender after the atom bombs were dropped
on Hiroshima and Nagasaki. Isolated Force 136 units suddenly found themselves the sole representatives of victorious Allied
forces that were still weeks away from landing in Malaya and re-establishing Britain’s pre-war authority. Attached to MPAJA
units that were eager to assert their strength in the power vacuum, Force 136 officers were required to take the surrender
of Japanese forces and prevent the MPAJA from exacting revenge not only on the Japanese but on those in the local
population they considered “running dogs” — traitors or collaborators.

Chasse negotiated the surrender of Japanese troops in the Perlis capital Kangar and stayed on to arrange the return from
exile of the Raja of Perlis and his restoration to the throne of his state. In Selangor, Henry Fung's unit, led by a British pre-
war planter, took control of Kajang from the Japanese, while Bing Lee accompanied his British Commander to Kuala Lumpur
where, from a villa near the racetrack (now the site of the KLCC Twin Towers), they maintained an uneasy truce with the

Japanese and the MPAJA until the arrival of the British forces in mid-September.
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Chinese-Canadians were sought and recruited as SOE agents in Malaya, Sarawak and elsewhere in Southeast Asia because of
their ability to speak a local language and to move inconspicuously among the local population. Those who undertook these
dangerous assignments did so with “uncommon courage” (to quote the title of a 1985 Canadian Veterans’ Affairs
Department publication) and made a special contribution to the Allied war effort; of the five who landed in Sarawak, four
were awarded the Military Medal for bravery. Perhaps more important, however, was the fact that they volunteered for the
dangers of clandestine warfare at a time when Chinese-Canadians were still denied full citizen rights. It was not until after
the war that Canada’s federal and provincial governments dismantled the country’s discriminatory legislation, beginning
with the British Columbia government’s decision in 1945 to give voting rights to all those, including Chinese and Japanese,
who had served in Canada’s armed forces. Thus, the part played by Chinese-Canadians in liberating Malaya and other
occupied countries helped win their compatriots full citizenship in Canada.

EAN GARFIT'S EVA N THE DUCHESS FORD
wWith thanks to Guy Garfit for his mother’'s story
Guy sent the following information about his mother and her voyage back to the UK in 1942 on the Duchess
of Bedford:
When my mother Jean Helena Garfit (nee Kidson) arrived back in England in 1942 she was asked by The
Daily Telegraph to write an account of her escape. However, she was required not to mention any specifics
such as the name of the ship or that they sailed via Colombo. In return, her stipulation for the Telegraph was
to avoid mentioning her husband’s name. In the event, the Telegraph condensed the article to about 30
words and included her then husband’s name, Stephen Sidford.
My mother met Stephen, a palm oil planter with Oil Palms of Malaya of Layang Layang, Johore in 1937 when
he was on long leave and she travelled out to Malaya late in 1938 where they were married between
Christmas and the New Year. Stephen died in Kanchanaburi in October 1943, but my mother did not learn of
his death until after V-E Day and before V-1 day.
My father had also been in Malaya as a rubber planter with Dunlop, but came home in 1938. He was
widowed during the war leaving him with a baby boy a few months old. When my parents married in
December 1946, my mother had a ready-made family. I arrived 9 months later, followed by my two sisters.
My mpther told me that one of the biggest reliefs on the voyage home was when they reached Colombo
where the American fleet was at anchor, and one of the loneliest was when they set off a few days later,
alone, on their way to Africa, with all the American ships blasting their horns to wish them good luck.
The ship docked in Durban for several days. During this time she spent every day with friends of her parents
who worked for Union Castle. Every evening they would get her back on board by 7 p.m. and pick her up
again in the morning if the ship was still there. One night it slipped away and they managed to get a message
to her parents in England but could give no date. It just said, "Jean hopes to be home in time for your
birthday.” That as the first that they knew she has escaped.
From Liverpool, she went to Euston expecting to find her parents waiting on the platform, but as the
passengers cleared she was left entirely alone. Unbeknown to her, two trains from Liverpool were arriving at
about the same time. Her parents were waiting on the other platform. She saw her father rushing over a
bridge between the platforms and when he saw her, shouted to her to stay there, and said, "T'll go and get
your mother.”
This is Jean’s story, dated 14" January 1942:
*T shall never forget the last day in our bungalow. We had two friends staying with us, one who had been
evacuated from the north and the other had been staying with us ever since her husband had been called up.
We taok the dogs out for a walk in the morning, but it all seemed so strange. The army had arrived on the
estate during the night, lorries were parked everywhere, dispatch riders were rushing about on motorbikes.
The empty bungalows, left by their owners when they joined the Volunteers at the beginning of December,
were now all occupied by the military. What did it all mean? Was it that the Japs were getting so close that
we, too, would have to leave our bungalow and fly before them? That evening when my husband, Stephen,
returned from work and he brought five men in with him. He had found them wandering around in cars
having lost their way on the estate. They were men in the 11*™ division who had been through all the fighting
in the MNorth, six weeks of it, and this was the first respite they had had. That morning they had handed over
to the Australians and now they had a few days of rest ahead of them. Their spirits were wonderful, they told
stories and made jokes of their escapes and retreats. These men had come right down from the Thai border,
fighting all the way. Surely now they deserved a rest, and we all hoped from the bottom of our hearts that
they would get it. I got my Chinese boy to heat up as many Kerosene tins of water as he could, and one by
one the men went away and had a hot bath and shave. How they enjoyed it. One, a young Lieutenant in the
R.Es, took so long over his “soak” that we became quite agitated. My husband went along to the bathroom
and found him lying back in the bath having a lovely sleep.
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We were a jolly party sitting down to dinner that night, everybody was in high spirits. Mot having expected
the extra numbers, I had to fall back on a few tins and a Xmas Pudding. My Ruki found some brandy which
he poured over it, and brought it into the dining room ablaze. It was a large pudding, but at the end there
was not a erumb left! The blow came after dinner. Our manager came round looking rather serious and took
my husband aside. My heart fell. I knew too well what it meant. All that evening I had had a feeling that
this was to be the last night in my home. Our manager, a great friend of ours and the kindest man
imaginahle, had decided that the time had come when the "girls” must leave the estate and go to Singapore
and there await a ship for evacuation. As it was, we were the women furthest North and one more infiltration
of the enemy would have probably meant being “cut off” and at the mercy of the Japanese. It was a sad
night. My husband and I lay for hours talking, but could see no way out. We loved the country, our home
and the people - surely this could not be the end of it all? I pleaded to stay. I could not leave the dogs, the
servants, the garden which I loved. After all the Japs could not get this far, our strong line was going to hold
them fifteen miles north of here — and what is more, it was cowardly to run away. All this argument was of
no avail and next morning I and my two friends were packing. We were to leave the bungalow at 1 o'clock,
go round to the manager’s house, meet the four other women left in the district and travel down to Singapore
in a convoy of four cars. Farewells were passed over quickly, we kept "our chins up” and imagined that we
would soon be returning, and what a day that would be! There was only one main road from Johore to
Singapore, and we had all travelled it literally dozens of times. But how different was this, our last journey.
One long continuous procession of cars, lorries, troops and matorcycles. One could not count the lorries and
cars which had turned over and were left abandoned in the road or ditch, owing to the weariness of the men
driving them. All the villages we went through looked deserted and the shops were boarded up. One saw
weary looking Chinese and Tamils trekking along with their possessions on their backs - all making their way
to what they thought would be some safer place of refuge.

When we finally reached Singapore, the question was "where to stay.” The hotels were all full up with
evacuees from the Morth. The three of us camped that night in a bungalow which had been taken over for
use as offices. Luckily we had a picnic basket with us, so we were able to provide a meal that night and
breakfast next morning. MNext day, I went to see some friends who lived in Singapore and asked them if they
could give us a bed for a night or two until we could get & ship. They had one spare double room and sald we
could have it as long as we liked, and made us very welcome. We were in Singapore a fortnight. Ewvery day
we were told to ring up the P&O office, and always it was the same reply, "we have no notification of any ship
yet.” The Jap bombers were very regular. They used to come over at breakfast time every morning, and in
continuous waves until about 12.30. The afterncons were usually peaceful. All their bombs used to drop
together. I think some sign was given by their leader and then they all "let go.” One learns a lot about
natives getting panicky, perhaps it is true in some cases, I don't know. My friend and I were several times
“caught” in a raid, and had to take shelter in some gueer places. Once we had to abandon the cars and crawl
into a covered-in drain. It was dark and eerie and the smell was awful. Our companions were a few Chinese
and a lot of Tamil children and their parents. We all had to crouch together, I admit I did not like it, and
although I did not know it at the time, my friend was very near to fainting. Another time, we were motoring
through the Chinese quarters and saw everyone looking up and then rushing for cover. We stopped the car
and looked out and saw about fifty Japanese planes. They were flying in formation and looked like silver
birds in the sky. They were going away from us but just as we were getting back in the car, my friend caught
sight of another wave coming up from behind. We thought the time had come to take shelter, but there were
only Chinese shops, and they looked just as if they would collapse like a pack of cards. However, we rushed
across the road and lay flat behind some sandbags. There were a few Chinese there, and they gave us a
welcoming smile. One man was cuddling his child to him, and he put his hands over the child’s ears to
protect him from the noise. The bombs fell unpleasantly close that day and we had a nasty few minutes.
These are the only two incidents, but there were several occasions when we had to take shelter and Chinese
were our only companions. They were always kind and friendly and set an example with their calm
behaviour.

On 25" January, my husband had to leave the estate. The Japs had made another landing and were only
seven miles away, and the army had to make another retreat. They destroyed what they could of our
factory. My husband had been out on a job that morning and the news was broken to him when he returned
to the bungalow for breakfast. That afterncon he arrived in Singapore and next morning joined up with his
Volunteers unit.

On the night of the 29" January, just as we were going to bed, the phone went, We were told to take our
passports at once and go to the P&O office. The P&O were using a large bungalow as their office, and when
we got there, there were literally hundreds of cars and people swarming up the drive. I believe this went on
for most of the night, and certainly all the next morning. When our turn came, there was none of the usual
formalities, no asking for passage money or even if we had the means. The guestion asked was, ANy
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children?” “No”, "Well, one mattress aft, such and such a troop ship. Be on board before 3.00p.m. tomorrow,
and take a plate, knife and fork and sheet with you.”

The question then was how to let our husbands know we were sailing. We knew their unit had reached
Singapore but we had not the vaguest notion where they were camping. However, after difficulty we were
able to get in touch with the Sergeant Major, and he told us where we could find them. Next morning, we
were up early, took the car and went out to the camp, and got there about 6.30a.m. We had just reached
the camp when a convoy of lorries went by. They were moving slowly and I noticed my hushand was driving
one of them. I ran after it, climbed on the running board and was able to tell him that I was sailing that
afternoon for the UK. I gave him the number of the ‘go-down’ and he said he would be there to see me off.
All that morning whilst we were packing, raids were taking place, and two or three times we had to dive
under the dining room table. We had no idea where the bombs were being dropped, but we were soon to
leave. The Japs must have known there was a convoy in, because that morning, for the first time, they
dropped all their bombs on the docks. What a drive we had to get to the ship. Looking back on it, it seemed
like a nightmare. Bombs had been dropped all round our ship, but except for shrapnel holes she was
undamaged. There were no coolies there to help with luggage, and everything had to be done by the men
seeing us off, and the crew. The ship had only arrived on the day before and had landed 3,000 Indian troops
from Bombay, and now she was taking on 1,400 women and children. All night we stayed in the docks, but
early next morning we moved a little outside. Whenever the Air Raid Siren went over the island we had to
put on our life belts and go and sit down in the dining saloon. The siren went so often that it was one
continuous procession on the staircase, down when the 'alert’ went, and up with the ‘all clear.” Eventually
one grew wise and ‘stayed put.” Everybody was ‘on edge’ and the heat was insufferable — and the screaming
of the babies and children. It was a happy relief for all when we sailed in the early hours of the afternoon.
The next enemy to compete with were the ‘bugs.” It was the people with cabins who suffered the most, as
they had got into the wooden bunks and used to come out at night to bite their victims. The only remedy
was to sleep on deck, admiring the blue sea, and wandering how it was there could ever be a war on, when
the Air Raid Siren went, and we could see the bombs landing in the sea. Two Jap planes had spotted us and
dropped their load - luckily they all missed. Our ship’s guns went into action but the planes were too high.
Where we were sleeping was like a large dormitory right aft in the ship. There were about 50 women, and we
each had a mattress on the floor. Some used to build little walls around themselves with their suitcases and
other more enterprising ones even had their family photos out! The days were monotonous but passed
quickly. Breakfast was at 8. We used to take our plate, collect our food from the kitchen, then sit on
benches in the dining saloon. Afterwards, we each did our washing-up in large communal wash-tubs. Then
would come the dusting and sweeping-up of our ‘bedrooms.” We would all do our own little corners, roll up
our mattresses and then give a good swish round with the mop. Lunch would be at 12.30 then high tea at
6.30 and woe betide any who were late! The first few weeks nearly everybody on the ship suffered from
some stomach trouble and sickness. It became known amongst the passengers as "Ship’s Complaint”!! 1
don’t know for certain but I think it was probably due to the water. A tremendous lot of babies were laid up
with bronchitis, and one or two died. Three or four babies were born on board.

At Durban, we were all put ashore for a night into hotels and the ship was thoroughly fumigated. About 500
women and children left the ship in 5. Africa. So from Durban homewards conditions were very changed. We
were all put into cabins, and were attended by stewards in the dining saloon. The crew were really
marvellous. Their job was not an easy one. And I cannot write too highly of the kindness that was shown us
by the people of S. Africa, and also at our port of arrival in England. I was given a railway pass to my final
destination and a £1 note to spend on the journey!

The Death Railway — Malaya to Burma

The following information was received by our secretary in Australia, Elizabeth Adamson:-

S

My name is Kalwant Kaur and my husband Vijay is a committee member with AMWA (Association of Malaysians in
Western Australia). | attended the fall of Singapore and Malaya ceremony on the 15M February at the Stirling Civic Garden
Memorial with my husband and friends from AMWA. My husband told me to do a short write up about my dad, Harnam
Singh s/o Inder Singh and his friend Kalwant Singh. Both were “olunteers’ during the Japanese occupation in fMalaya.
| hope this small piece of the jigsaw puzzle will bring closure to some of us who lost family in 1943.

Signed — Kalwant Kaur Harnam Singh.

This is her father's story:
My father Harnam Singh told me these stories and they were confirmed by my brother-in-law, Prem Singh whose father was

Kalwant Singh who also worked in Siam in 1943 and kept a diary.

G.



In 1943, Harnam Singh (son of Inder Singh) and Kalwant Singh worked on the death railway which spanned from Siam to
Burma. They were railway men who did not volunteer their services but were given no choice but to work as station masters
at Wampo and Tha Sao in Thailand. They were civilian prisoners, They were told to volunteer or else they would be rounded
up and forced to work along the death railway as POWs. Both survived the war and died of old age.

Harnam Singh sfo Inder Singh worked alone from @ small hut at Tha Sao. His job was to pull the levers to change the track
when he heard the trains coming. The place where he worked was infested with malarial mosquitoes and he fell ill. He
escaped Tha Sao by hiding in a rail cart that held dead bodies of POVWs. He hid right at the bottom, because when the train
stopped, the Japanese would use their bayonets to stab the dead bodies to ensure no living soul escaped. He told me horror
stories of people like him being killed by malaria, the Japs and tigers.

Kalwant Singh worked at Wampo. He also worked alone as station master and contracted acute eczema when he was in
Siam. He was told that his leg was to be amputated and was discharged from there. In his diary he mentioned other workers
from Malaya who had been taken by the Japanese to work on the Railway. These were Kapur Singh from Port Klang; Jora
Singh from the postal department, and Lambrogrun.

The diary also mentions Sentul Station being destroyed by USA Superfortress bombers on 19™ February 1945, and
Brickfields Workshop being bombed on 10" March 1945. Kalwant escaped by sheltering under tapioca plants.

Harnan Singh son of Plaque at Don Rak Cemetery Kalwant Singh Judge
Inder Singh ; ;

Kanchanaburi

MONSOON BOATS — PENANG'S SUBMARINE BASE in WW2
With thanks to Dave Croft RAFBPA

During February 1942, the Japanese made Penang their submarine base for the Far East. And in late 1943, the
German Kriegsmarine also established Penang as the principal base for their Far East U-Boat Fleet, where they could
repair and re-supply the “Monsoon Boats' "operations in the Indian ocean.

For this purpose, a second Light Railway was built to serve the joint German-Japanese submarine base in the Fort
Cornwallis area. An intercepted coded message in March 1942, indicated that the Japanese Nawy was to base five
|-Boat subrmarines in Penang for Indian Ocean operations. But the moaring space at Swettenham Pier was reserved
for German Navy use and 26 sheds were built to house machine shops and general maintenance. These were linked
by the railway track to Swettenham Pier where up to 5 U-Boats could be accommaodated at one time. This begs the
question of the joint usage of the Pier for German and Japanese submarines. However, Penang was inadequale for
major repairs to the U-Boats and these were carried out at Keppel Harbour in Singapore due to the fact that the
Germans were denied entry to the Naval Dockyard by the Japanese.

In April 1943, U-178 was sent lo Penang to establish the base for operations, although U-511 arrived first on 15th July.
U-511 was presented to the Japanese for design copying and from Penang sailed to Kobe, a city port in Japan, 4
“Vonsoon Boats"arrived in Penang during October/November 1943 and berthed at Swettenham Pier. Apart from the
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U-Boats the Kriegsmarine also ‘hosted’ 3 Italian FE submarines now under German arders following the ltalian
capitulation in Europe. Also at the Imperial Airways base (as it was still known to the Germans) at Glugar, there were
two Arado 196 seaplanes and a Japanese JEL3A floalplane.

By late 1943, U-Boat combat missions were being changed to the transport g

ST

of essential war supplies between Japan and Germany. Among the i
transport of materials such as mercury, tungsten, tin, rubber and guinine i ﬁ é
the U-Boats also carried replacement U-Boat parts and torpedoes for the s ¥
"Monsoon Boats”- essential as the parts were not available in the Far East.
Use was also made of innovative local expertise such as that found in the
Swellenham Pier workshops where some complex parts were able to be
manufactured locally.

4 more “Monsoon Boats"arrived in Penang between August and

September 1944,
But the situation had now become more dangerous as allied bombing and submarine mine laying was intensifying.

“Monsoon Boats” in Penang

Leaving and entering Penang harbour was not a safe proposition!

The German U-Boat administration was based in Northam Road in George Town, with additional offices and
accommadation in the Elysee Hotel and at a requisitioned villa on Bell Road. For rest and recuperation leave the
crews were able to go swimming at the Springtide Hotel, Penang Swimming Club and Mount Pleasant. They also
had the use of the Penang Hill resort and also stayed at Fraser's Hill and the Cameran Highlands. An introductory
information booklet was also issued to new arrivals:

Dress within Penang city is always civilian clothes. A special walking out uniform (white) is issued from the
German Service Department. To make yourself recognizable to the Police Department, each German must carny
a pin of the black, white and yellow cockade.” Advice on bahaviour towards the Japanese was also issued.

The Shanghai Hotel (demolished in 1964) had been requisitioned by the Japanese at a German request for
somewhere to relax for off-duty officers; it was used as a dance hall and bordello.

Regarding food rations for the German crews, the general food shortages experienced by the civilian population of
George Town, and o a degree by the Japanese as well, did not seem to affect the Germans. They received rye-broad
from a special bakery, meat from a pre-war German immigrant butcher and had plenty of vegetables. In addition they
had anather source of food. The refrigerator ship 55 Manking was travelling between Australia and Burma
throughout May 1942 when it was captured by a German raider. The Manking carried vast guantities of canned and
frozen meal, alsa bacon, butter, flour, fruit and vegetables. The ship was escorted to Penang and tied up at
Swettenham Pier for the rest of the war for feeding and supplying U-Boat crews.

Crews weare forbidden to eat and drink at roadside stalls, although the Asahi beer was allowed and seemed o be
popular!

The adventures of U-181

U-181 left Bordeaux Harbour on 16th March 1944, destination Penang, then Singapore, followed by replenishment at
Djakarta (sic) before departing for Europe. The vessel was carrying 85 tonnes of mercury, in steel bottles in place of
ballast iron in the keel, to Singapore. After a long journey around the Cape of Good Hope and into the Indian Ocean,
via a circuitous route, it arfived at Swettenham Pier on 8th August. A few days away from the U-Boat relaxing,
swimming and drinking Asahi Beer refreshed the crew before starting routine servicing and some repairs before going
to Singapore. Two months of servicing, repair and preparation for the homeward journey, with the added delivery of
mercury to Singapore, followed. Surplus torpedoes were offloaded at Penang for the “Monsoon Boats"and the
diesel engines, compressors etc. were overhauled by both crew and local dockyard engineers, perhaps to a degree of
accuracy not really required!! Cracked bearings of the timming pump were handed aver 1o the workshop Tar
copying: the work done was excellent and the cracks faithfully reproduced on the new bearings! New bearings were

speedily made!



At Keppel Harbour dry dock in Singapore, the 85 tonnes of mercury were rapidly off-loaded by the dockside labour
force, watched over by armed Japanese guards. The mercury ‘ballast was replaced by powdered tungsten packed in
cast iron boxes. Also Molybdenum and rubber was taken on board. Repair facilities were better in Singapore than in
Penang, and damage from an altercation with a Beaufighter (off the coast of India) was speedily repaired and an
external coat of paint applied. Refuelling followed, using Asian diesel oil from Bormeo, with a different viscosity from
the diesel fuel the crew was familiar with, but the engines coped with it. The Asian lubricating oil was a different
matter and the low viscasity was to cause serious problems later on.

By the end of September 1944, U-181 was moved to Djarkarta (sic) to take on food supplies for the long voyage back
to Europe. The crew spent the next 10 days on leave at the Dutch colonial resort of Buitenzorg before departing for
the lang voyage home.

1st Novernber, U-181, after a long chase attacked and sank the US55 Fort Lee but paid the price when the bearings of
the main diesels failed, the Asian lubricating fuel being a contributory factor. Running slowly on one diesel engine, the
vessel returned to Djakarta, reaching the harbour on 3rd January 1945, U-181 then moved to Singapore to enlist the
help of FIAT diesel engineers stranded in Singapore when ltaly capitulated. The FIAT engineers were in Singapore as
support engineers to the previous Italian FE submarine fleet and now ‘guests’ of the Japanese Mavy. U-181was still in
Keppel Harbour when Germany surrendered in Europe, and on 9th May the Japanese tock over the vessel Apart
from specialists who volunteered to advise the Japanese on the operation of the U-boat, all other German officars and
crewmen, from both Singapore and Penang, were moved to Batu Pahat on mainland Malaya, The wvolunteers’
preferred to work for the Japanese Navy rather than be 'guests’ of the Japanese Arrry!

Organisation of the U-boats was certainly different with the Japanese. Communication between Germans and
Japanese was in the form of English! Additional sleeping accommodation was installed as each Japanese crewman
required his own bunk. no sharing on different watches. For various tasks, where one German crewman sufficed, 3-4
Japanese was the norm. The crew numbers doubled and chaos reigned, the Japanese were noisy, shouting
commands with plenty of hectic activity all around, but despite the chaos U-181 — now [-501 of the Japanese Imperial
Navy — was ready for action by the end of July 1945. It didn't happen, and following Japan's surrender, all German
personnel were returned to Singapore. Following the arrival of the British, the Germans were marched to Changi
where they were accommadated in former prison guard ‘bungalows’ outside the forbidding walls of the prison. Thay
helped to get Singapore get back on its feet after the long Japanese occupation and in June 1946 all German ex-Navy
personnel were repatriated to Europe.

Arado AR-196 Seaplanes.

Two of these seaplanes were based at Glugor and used for submarine escort duties and coastal patrol. Interestingly,
they were in the Japanese National (Hinomaru) markings but flown by Kriegsmarine pilots. They might have been
gifted by Germany to Japan to be used at the Penang base?

It is possible that the AR-195 aircraft remained at Penang until December 1844 when one source of information states
that all the Glugor aircraft were flown south as the base became untenable due to increasing Allied air activity.




In My Father's Footsteps — Part 3
A Trip to South East Asia — by David Sartin

Coincidence or Fate?
We came to Nong Pladuk Junction, which we had passed through on the way to Kanchanaburi, and stopped at the
station. The guard on the train informed us that we would be delayed here for at least an hour due to other
trains on the line.
The surprise? — My father was held at Nong Pladuk POW camp and put to work on the Railway here. We had just
not had time to visit Nong Pladuk when we were in Kanchanaburi, but now here we were in Nong Pladuk station,
at the start of the Thailand end of the infamous Death Railway, and where my father had been a POW. |took the
opportunity to leave the train for a short while and to look around the station and take some photographs.
| called in at the signal box at the station and spoke as best | could to one of the Railway workers there. Despite
our language barrier the chap seemed to realise what | was doing, and immediately produced a book, albeit in
Thai, detailing the history of Nong Pladuk POW camps. He was also able to point out to me where the camps had
been in Nong Pladuk. Due to the time constraint however, and not wishing to miss the train, | was unable to
venture further afield.
| had to wonder to myself, of all the stations on the line, why had we stopped at one? What if we had caught a
later train, would we have stopped here? | think even Ray was beginning to wonder if my late father's spirit was
guiding us somehow.
Upon arriving in Bangkok, we took a taxi to the hotel where we had stayed previously, and after checking in, we
went in search of the godowns near Thonburi where the FEPOWSs had been taken by rail en route to camps in
Thailand.
Ray had seen some photos of old railway lines online and we decided to try to follow these tracks as far as we
could. Ray had printed off directions from Google Earth and we took the MRT out of the city.
After an early false start we soon found the rails tracks in question and followed the tracks through some fairly
run down neighbourhoods. We managed to follow the tracks in question to an industrial area where we came
across some railway wagons, albeit of a later date, but similar to those we had seen at Hellfire Pass and the
Thailand-Burma Railway Centre Museum.
Ray took photographs of the tracks, but we could not ascertain how far away we were from the godowns and due
to the area we were in, we did not consider it wise to venture further. Whilst investigating the tracks and railway
wagons, we noticed a wild boar foraging on the road ahead of us. The boar approached us just as we were lucky
enough to reach the safety of a nearby taxi.
The following day we took a flight to Ubon Ratchathani where we were met at the airport by Ray’s wife, Khamma,
and members of the Ubon Research Group who welcomed us with open arms. The Ubon Group were delighted
to have the son of an ex-FEPOW visiting them, and | was treated like a VIP. A lady called Aura Thai arranged for
us to meet up later that evening where Ray, Khamma and | were treated to an excellent Chinese meal at a local
restaurant, where other members of the group joined us to meet their special visitor from the UK.
After an excellent meal and convivial company, Ray, Khamma and | drove to their home at Thamuang in rural
Ubon, where | was to spend the next three nights.
Aura Thai, however, had arranged for us to meet her the next day with one of the Group called Kassem, who had
been a Professor at Ubon University. They took us to see the Ubon Monument of Merit which had been erected
by the Dutch ex-FEPOWS to honour the people of Ubon who had assisted the Allied FEPOWSs by providing food
and medicines at great risk to themselves. It was, indeed, an honour to have my photo taken at the Monument.
Each year on Remembrance Sunday, hundreds of people gather in the park around the Monument to honour the
fallen and the FEPOWSs.
Following our visit to the Monument, Ray and | were taken for lunch by Aura Thal and Kassem, and we were
touched by their hospitality. In the afternoon we visited an elderly gentleman called Thong Dee who had been a
boy at the time of the Ubon POW camp and he related stories in Thai about the camp conditions. We went with

Thong Dee to the site of the former camp which is now just bare fields for growing rice. Ray had been to the site
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on previous occasions and had found various artifacts from the days of the POW camp. He pointed out an old
corrugated shelter in one of the fields where, he informed me, the camp kitchen had been sited. There had been
3,000 POWSs at this camp, and the first arrivals had to construct the camp’s living quarters from scratch.

We had a look around the site of the old camp, and came upon quite a deep ditch which had been constructed by
the POWSs, supposedly for defensive measures, but | personally wasn’t so sure. | felt it might have had a more
sinister purpose.

The prisoners had been moved up from Nong Pladuk to Ubon to construct an airfield for the Japanese air force,
my father amongst them. He arrived at Ubon on 10.2.45 and was eventually liberated from there in August 1945.
The airstrip is still in use today, although only by light aircraft enthusiasts and has been reduced in length from its
original 1500 metres to about 600 metres.

We had a bit of a wander around the airstrip and Ray took the opportunity to have a search with his metal
detector which turned up some bomb fragments. Apparently, after the Japanese capitulated, they had to destroy
their weapons and ammunition and these fragments turn up quite frequently. The day was blisteringly hot, and
Aura Thai contacted a friend to bring out some water and drinks for us which we were grateful to receive.

The following day, Ray and | were invited to give a talk to the Ubon Research Group at Ubon University. This was
something of an experience indeed, but we were made very welcome. | gave a talk, via an interpreter, on my
father's experiences in SOE and during his time as a FEPOW, although | knew very little apart from the camps he
had been in. After our talk, everyone wanted a photograph taken with me. Their kindness, warmth and
hospitality are things which | will always remember. After our talk we were taken again for a sumptuous Chinese
meal at a restaurant in Ubon.

That afternoon we were taken to visit “the old man” —a gentleman called Sumwit. He is regarded in Ubon as
something of a Sage and has taken responsibility for the upkeep of the Monument and for making its history
known to the people of Ubon. Although he couldn‘t speak English and | couldn’t speak Thai, it was explained who
I was and his delight was plain to see. Sumwit spoke about the Japanese occupation of Ubon and the POW Camp.
It was an honour to have been invited to his house and to have met him.

This was my last day in Thailand before flying home. The Tuesday morning was spent with Ray and Khamma and
we indulged in a spot of fishing on their farm, followed by a visit to a Buddhist Temple and a spot of lunch at a
roadside café in the village.

It had been a remarkable 3-week journey, an experience of a lifetime and | met some wonderful people along the
way, experienced the most incredible hospitality and warmth and had my eyes opened along the way. | hope |
did my father proud.

David, Sumwit and Ray
Tl



THE JAPANESE CONQUEST OF MALAYA — Part 6 — by MARK MORRISON

EVACUATION AT SINGAPORE

In congluding this chapter on 'Evacuation at Singapore' the extraordinary action of the Chairman of the Harbour Board
demands special emphasis. He held a position far transcending in importance any held by any other official, with the single
exception of the Governor, The key to safe evacuation to orderly allocation and berthing of ships, to refuelling and repair of
ships, to the marshalling of women and children lay in his hands. It is possible that the key to the safe evacuation of many of
the troops might also have lain in his hands. Not only had he failed at this most critical juncture, but he had never included in
his previous secret preparations for the personal safety of himself and his European regular staff, the care and safety of any
of the Chinese employees and their families or the care and safety of the European civilians who had volunteered to assist his
department. The Chairman of the Harbour Board got a qualified permission for his vessel to depart. Judging from the
appearance and actions of the Governor about this time, it is personable to suggest that when he gave this permission, he
was a distracted and desperate man.

CONCLUSION
The stigma attaching to the defence of Malaya was not the defeat or the defence, but the simplicity and rapidity with which it
was defeated. The Japanese succeeded because they knew how to take the country: the British failed because they did not
know how to defend the country. Years of preparation and millions in expenditure had very little resisting effect on the
onslaught of the enemy. It took the Japanese two months and eight days to acquire possession of the whole peninsular and
Island of Singapore with a road length of approximately 550 miles. Its occupation brought with it most of the peacetime
resources of the whole country. The capitulation brought with it a surrender of approximately 70,000 troops together with their
equipment and opened up avenues of attack on territaries in the Indian and Southern Pacific Oceans.
The Malay States were protectorates. Great Britain exercised external sovereignty and by varying indirect means possessed
absolute control over internal administration of these protectorates. These means were the appointment of British Advisers to
the local Sultans and the employment in key positions of British Officials. The advisers and most of the heads of the
administrative departments were members of the Malay Civil Service. Legislative Councils contained official majorities and
gven the appointment of unofficial members was controlled. In practice, the control over defence measures was vested in the
adminjstration headed by the High Commissioner to the same extent as in the Straits Settlements. The Straits Settlements
and the Malay States had their own defence organization and a defence security officer responsible to the Governor was
stationed in Singapore. On account of the great importance of Malaya and particularly of Singapare, the Imperial power
maintained troops and created fortifications. The assistance given in defence by the Imperial power was auxiliary and did not
exonerate the local governments from taking proper measures for the defence of their temitories. The Governor of the Straits
Settlements was also High Commissioner for the Malay States. He was not only the highest civil authority but was also
Commander in Chief of forces. The vesting of this supreme military power in the Governor did not require that he should
actively interfere with the preparations for defence made by Imperial military agencies. It did require that if he were not
satisfied that the defences of Malaya were efficient, he should endeavour to ensure their efficiency by the legislative and
administrative powers within his control or by representations to the Secretary of State for the Colonies.
The Malay Civil Service was the channel for the receipt of information by the executive. This service was in the position to
obtain knowledge directly of conditions throughout Malaya. Many of the members of the Malayan Civil Service were
undoubtedly well informed as to the military and civil position of the country. Some of the officials were men of decided ability,
character and imagination. It is difficult to believe that representations were not on occasions made to the Governor and High
Commissioner as to the inadequacy of the defences by at least a few of these members.
It is believed that the great majority of the members of the Malayan Civil Service were too complacent, routine minded and
militarily ignorant to understand the important questions involved in any scheme for the defence of Malaya. To them it was
sufficient that there was a defence security officer stationed in Singapore and that Imperial authorities were also devoting their
efforts to make Malaya safe.
The inability of the local administration to create any suitable organisation to meet the requirements of war, was a failure of
magnitude. With the outbreak of the European War, the occupation of Indo-China, and the signing of the Berlin — Rome —
Tokyo Axis Pact, the writing was clearly on the wall. The peacetime military organisations were developed and civil defence
services were created but the bases of defence measures remained unsound. Instead of tackling the defence of the country
as an original problem requiring in its solution a comprehensive knowledge of local conditions and the best use of the
available manpower and resources of the country, the administration appeared quite content to regard the defence of the
peninsular as a matter primarily one for the Imperial service authorities. These service authorities had not that
comprehensive knowledge of local conditions. They also had not the qualifications or experience to determine the immense
value of the Oriental races and the best use to which the valuable sections could be put.
In considering the defects of defence organisations in Malaya, the historical aspect may require some consideration. British
control of Malaya was acquired by diplomatic agencies and not by military effort. British Malaya had never been shaken by
any conflict of importance in which experiences could be gained. Unlike countries with military background, no basis for
strategy and tactics suitable to its conditions had ever been evolved.
Meither great vision nor experience should have been required for the administration in Malaya to appreciate the
consequences of successful invasion of their territory. "Scorched Earth,” as the policy was known long before the Nazi
invasion of Russia, is an elementary principle of military science and of administration in contemplation of war, that plans
should be prepared, not only to cause the greatest damage to any possible invader, but also to reduce as far as possible the
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bensfit of any advance obtained by such invader. The expression "Scorched Earth" merely emphasizes the degree of
application of this elementary principle. Even if official expectations in respect of Thailand had been fulfilled, and Thailand
had ranged herself against the aggressor, a successful invasion of southern Thailand and advances in northern Malaya were
still probabilities in the absence of British naval control in the Guif of Siam. An efficient administration should have had plans
even for possibilities. The Malayan administration had plans neither for probabilities nor for possibilities. Only in the face of
the long and successful enemy advance did this administration attempt by organization to secure some destruction of the
material resources and otherwise deprive the enemy of advantages.
The creation of the numerous airfields throughout Malaya by the Imperial power and the probability of an attack by an enemy
advancing through the peninsular, necessitated that the Imperial forces brought to Malaya should be trained and equipped for
fighting on the peninsular, These factors also necessitated that the commanders, their staffs, and regimental leaders should
have adequate knowledge of conditions in Malaya to ensure that suitable heavy equipment was forwarded to Malaya, that the
troops were suitably equipped for any fighting expected in the country, and that forces who might be employed on the
peninsular were suitably trained for the country in which they might have to fight. Equally important to the above, an adequate
knowledge of local conditions was necessary, to devise strategy and tactics for both offensive and defensive fighting in
Malaya,
The course of the campaign and the rapidity and simplicity with which defence measures were defeated disclosed that enemy
forces were more suitably equipped and in general better trained for the conditions of the country than the defending forces.
They also disclosed that neither troops engaged nor the command had that intimate knowledge of the country or its
conditions, so necessary for the utmost effect in both attack and defence.
The creation of a Naval Base at Singapore and potential Air Bases throughout the peninsular and in Singapore were
important Imperial projects. Schemes for Imperial defence were prepared in England and not in Malaya and experts in
England must have played an important part in defence applicable to Malaya. Irrespective of any criticism of military or
political authorities outside Malaya, there can be no question whatsoever that the active senior commands in Malaya failed
badly throughout the campaign. Spirit was lacking in offence and originality in defence. Once the enemy established his
superiority in mobility and his ability to infiltrate through loose defences, the ever pressing need for the High Command was to
devise some original defensive strategy. not necessarily to counter enemy tactics which was a matter for the immediate
forces, but to counter the enemy's offensive strategy. The enemy's strategy was aimed at forcing withdrawal and it
succeeded on every occasion. Retirement and withdrawal was so complete that the enemy was uninterrupted in his
possession of the acquired territories and was able to direct the great majority of his forces to his immediate object and not
troubled greatly about communications.
During the fighting on the peninsular, the troops engaged had fought under great disadvantages. In preparing the defence of
the Island of Singapore, the Command had great advantages which should have outweighed the advantage the enemy had in
the air. The failure of the defending forces was due to many causss, direct and indirect. The neglect to prepare adequate
defences along the Straits of Johore during the years or at least months prior to the battle of Singapore appears inexcusable
and made the task of the defenders much more difficult. It also prabably contributed to the lowering of the morale of the
troops engaged in the defence of this vital area. The main direct cause was, however, unimaginative leadership of the forces
engaged in the area in which the original landing was made. Precautions were never taken which should have been taken.
Defence lines were unnecessarily weak. Communications rarely functioned. Artillery did not respond. The result was speedy
and effective success by the enemy.
The constant withdrawal from one defence line to ancther defence line extending throughout the peninsular was not without
some encouraging features. Despite the many handicaps, most of the regular combatant troops, European and Indian,
displayed splendid fighting qualities. In the fighting in Morth Johore, the Australians also put up a magnificent showing. Some
of the regiments, through casualties, ceased to exist as effective fighting units. Particular mention is made of the Argyll and
Sutherland Highlanders. This regiment was commanded by an officer with great foresight. He gave his men a training
suitable for the conditions of warfare in Malaya. As it was bound to be, this training was rigorous and produced murmurs from
many of his men. During the whole course of the campaign, this commanding officer displayed great gualities of leadership
and his officers and men responded with great gallantry. Harsh feelings engendered by the hostility to the rigorous training
were replaced by gratitude and deep respect. This splendid regiment eventually got to Singapare still an effective unit, but
reduced by casualties to less than 150 officers and men.*[See note].
During the course of the campaign, heartening response was heard from Great Britain promising substantial aid in men,
equipment and aircraft. Reinforcements, equipment and aircraft did arrive but not to the extent which it was considered was
required. After the fall of Singapore, the excuse offered for the lack of defences and aircraft prior to the campaign was that
planes and equipment intended for the defence of Singapore had been diverted to Russia or the Middle East. It is suggested
that the requirements in the preparation of the defences of Malaya were not large fortifications, heavy eguipment, nor
thousands of imported troops. The main requirements in the preparation of Malayan defences were intelligent civil and
military organizations combining so that all the advantages the country had to offer could be directed to the defence. The
essential requirement in the active defence of Malaya was one intelligent and simple organisation which could direct the
military and civil resources with the utmost effect. The essential requirements in resources were hat equipment, men and
aircraft, but suitable equipment, suitably trained troops, and aircraft that at lsast could be a match for anything the opposition
had to offer.
*Note: The Commanding Officer of the Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders was Lt. Col. lan McAlister Stewart DSO.,
OBE., MC.
See “Moon Over Malaya” by Jonathan Moffatt and Audrey Holmes McCormick.
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MALAYAN ODYSSEY
By Ulick Loring

When Robert Young, a young engincer from Leeds and a grandson of’ Timothy Hackworth
the early railway pioneer, embarked on a steamer to India in about 1885, he could scarcely
have imagined that he would begin a family tradition linking his descendants to the Malay
Peninsula for over 150 years. Robert undertook his apprenticeship with Airedale Foundry
and brought with him a reference from the Edinburgh Street Tramways Company. He later
joined Kitsons the tram maker in leeds. Although his family was from Tyneside, the
peripatetic work of his father, a Methodist minister, led his mother and siblings from one
posting to another throughout the country.

Around 1890 Robert moved from India to Penang which at that time seemed to rival
Singapore as a commercial centre (see F.A. Swellenham, British Malaya, 1906 p330.) Ile
rapidly involved himself in the island’s lile. Although he was not particularly wealthy and
certainly not part of the most privileged part of the colonial ¢lite, like most young English
professionals he lived a good life and was one of the [irst people to drive a car on the island.
He founded his own company R Young & Co and being a freemason no doubt made many
commercial contacts.

Roberl Young in his car

The problem for many young men in the Empire was the absence of eligible young FEuropean
women, It is unsurprising thercfore that Robert remained unmarried until he was forty-five,
[Tis wile to be, Edith was the sister of a colleague of his in Malaya, Edward Lees. Edith was
the youngest child and only daughter of a onectime Staffordshire farmer, but when the laller
remarried she was as, it were on the shelf, and was 30 - a relatively late age - for those days.
She sailed to Malaya on a P & O liner at Christimas 1904 and married Robert al 5t George’s
Church, Penang. It must have been a challenging experience, marrying someone she did not
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know and suddenly becoming the mistress of a colonial household with servants and the
expectation of entertaining as a hostess. She told me how she once woke up to find a python
in her mosquito net! Nonetheless according to her son-in-law James Loring, she never
regretted her marriage. The Youngs lived in a Black and White house in Scotland Road called
England House. When I visited Penang a few years ago it still exisied and was then the
headquarters of a political party!

1 |

Oulside England Houss in 1914 showing three of Robert's surviving daughiers

Still life for Edith may have been claustrophobic and not very exciting. Robert and Edith had
six children, all daughters. The first two, Rhoda and Joan, died as babies in Malaya, and
when Edith became pregnant with her third child she retumed to England to give birth to
Margaret. However, while Edith was concerned with domestic lile, Roberl was busy with
business and public life. He was appointed to the Straits Settlements Legislative Couneil,
chairman of the Penang Harbour Board, and cditor of the Penang Garette. Thal was apart
from his business activities, [or example designing the first concrete bridge in Kedah in 1909
and pionecering the Georgelown tramway system. He also had a business interest in the
Sungei Batu rubber plantation. Tle was in lune with public affairs and spoke out
prophetically about increasing Japanese influence in the region.

The I'irst World War did not allect the expatriate community to the same degree as people at
home, bul it was a dramatic shock when in 1914 a German cruiser, The Emden, shelled
Penang and a piece of shrapnel, still in the family, landed in the grounds of England House.
The Indian Army mutiny in Singapore in February 1915 also had repercussions and Robert
was commended for enrolling as a private in a local defence force which was set up.
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Robert retired in 1916 and returned to Lngland with his family now including four daughters.
They lived in Iaywards ITeath first with before settling in 8t Leonard’s-on-Sea. lle returned
to Penang at least once after his retirement when he attended a Masonic dinner in 1924, He
still had many connections there and it must have been because of this that members of his
family took posts in Malaya. Here he found himsclf with responsibilities to suddenly
orphaned nephews and a niece, Kay Young whom he and Edith took in.

Robert’s eldest surviving daughter Margaret taught music at Tanglin School mn the Cameron
ITighlands from the mid 1930s under the headship of Anne Griffith-Jones (*"Gnil."") At the
time of the Japanese invasion those still at the school (a number of children were i1l at the
time and had gone home) were sent down to Singapore to be evacuated.

. i

i

The leaching stall of Tanglin School. Margaret is third fom the right al the back

Margarct’s cousins Kay (now Fletcher) and the latter’s daughter, Judith, were living in
Penang, and had already lelt soon after the sinking of the Prince of Wales and the Repulse
and safely reached Australia. Margaret could have taken a berth and but she chose to stay
behind because she thought she should set an example to local people. It is said that the ship
she was supposcd to have joined was sunk and so maybe she had a lucky escape.

Like many civilians Margaret was inlerred in Changi which was a regular prison that had
been built by the British. Ilere she lived in a cell which she shared with a nurse, Mary
Thomas, who wrote a memoir, In the shadow of the Rising Sun (Singaporc 1983.) She
remembered singing “*T'here will always be an England *° during the march to prison.
Margaret was sparse in her comments about camp life though she referred once to the
infamous Double Tenth when the prison was searched for evidence ol collusion between
internees and the recent commando attack on Singapore harbour. She was a devoul Anghcean
and she was charitable about Japanese soldicrs of whom she said “"had a hard time 100, (See
for example Fergal Keane, Road of Bones, 2011, and the novels of Shusaku Endo.) Civilian
intcrnees were transferred to Sime Road camp in May 1944, She commented on internees
being able to grow their own vegetables and she also played the piano at concerts. [lowever
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she made no reference to the hardships experienced towards the end of the War as described
by Sheila Allen in Diary of a girl in Changi (Pymble NSW, 1994.)

At the end of the war she was, as her sister, Roberta Loring, put it “"fattened up”® before
being allowed home. The time of internment for her lamily was a very anxious one, and it
was a long time before they learnt that Margarei was alive. Her return was the cause of great
rejoicing and her niece Georgiana de Lussy remembers the preparations for the home coming.

I S s F - - . . .\.

The relumn Lo England after internment and in Sime Road camp with cousin Bill. (1 have read that there was Dutch
photographer in Sime Road who secretly took pictures.)
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Two other relatives were caught up in Japanese invasion. Cyril Hackworth Young (Kay
Fletcher’s brother) made a dramatic escape from the Japanese by diving into the sea, and
being picked up by a Malay boat. He reached South Africa eventually. Bill Fletcher an
cngineer was interncd, and met up with Margaret in Sime Road camp where men and women
were allowed to [raternise on occasions.  Margarel reccived no compensation for her
hardships from the British government. She stayed in contact with other intcrnees like Mary
Thomas. She never revisited Malaya and died in 1989. She was a righteous and humble
woman whom I admired greatly.

In 2003 T had the opportunity to visit Singapore and Penang. As in the carly morning the
plane dipped over the sea and down towards Penang T felt deeply emotional when T saw the
island T had heard so much about from my childhood. Amazingly in the English cemetery 1
found the graves of my baby aunts, Rhoda and Joan and they were in remarkably good
condition. Later my friend, Zygmunt and I, were driven up into the Cameron Highlands by a
Chinese priest, Father Charles Chan of the Diocesc of Penang. Margaret Shennan the author
of Owt in the Midday Sun (London 2000) enabled me to obtain an introduction from the Tigh
Commission in Kuala Lumpur to the site of Tanglin School now a Malaysian Commando
camp. At the gate the guard tried to read the letter upside down! Inside I found it remarkably
unchanged since my aunt’s time. In 2006 [ returned once and donated artefacts of my aunt’s
to Tanglin School (now in Singapore,) the Penang Heritage Trust and to Changi Muscum. In
Singapore T was also able lo attend the annual ceremony marking civilian sacrifices during
the occupation.

‘Fhe cntrance 1o the site of Tanglin School in the Cameron Highlands showing Malaysian Commando insignia
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The civilian memorial service Singapore 2006

A LINK WITH OLD PENANG
Report in “The Singapore Free Press and Mercantile Advertiser,” 13" May 1932

Death of Mr. R. Young

Engineer, Editor and Legislative Councillor
News was received in Singapore yesterday of the death at home of Mr. Robert Young, founder of the well-known
Malayan civil, constructional and sanitary engineering firm, and for several years a member of the Legislative
Council of the Colony. He was 71 years of age.
Mr. Young retired from Malaya about fifteen years ago after spending 28 years of varied activities in the country
and earning the esteem of a very large circle of friends, an esteem which was happily demonstrated in the form of
a presentation when he left Penang on retirement. After three years in the service of the Great Indian Peninsular
Railway Company, Mr. Young, who was a native of Bishop Auckland, Durham, and had been trained as a
mechanical engineer at Leeds, first came to the Straits in 1888 as engineer of the old Penang Steam Tramways
Company, which had been started by Messrs. Kerr, Stuart and Co., about a year earlier. Mr. Young took over
charge of the steam tramways from Mr. Grant Mackie in 1894 but in the same year gave way to Mr. R. W. Twose.
Six years later the tramways went into liquidation and were purchased by Government on the suggestion of the
Municipality, and Mr. Young was appointed lessee and manager, a post which he filled until the inauguration of the
electric tramways under direct Municipal control in 1906. Mr. Young carried out the contract for the permanent way
of the new tramways and he carried out other important contracts in and about Penang and in Kedah. At the same
time he found opportunity for a considerable amount of work of a public character, serving for six years as a
member of the Legislative Council, and being the first unofficial Chairman of the Penang Harbour Board. Mr.
Young was a keen Volunteer and a prominent Freemason, notable services to which movement were recognized
by his election as Deputy District Grand Master. As we have said, Mr. Young had varied interests. For more than
twenty years, it was recorded in the address which was presented to him by Penang admirers on his retirement, he
"*helped to guide and give expression to public opinion as editor of The Pinang (sic) Recorder and Shipping
Gazette and as one of the founders and a director of The Times of Malaya, on more than one occasion editing the
Pinang Gazette with great judgment and skilful pen.” For upwards of twenty years Mr. Young was consulting
engineer to the Penang Municipal Fire Brigade, and he founded the firm which bears his name in 1897.
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Commemorative Services in Muntok, Bangka Island, February 2020

The word Muntok means “the end of the road’. This small town lics on the tip of the West
coast of Bangka Island in Indonesia. ITn World War 2, it was the end of the road for many
people. 1000°s ol evacuees from Singapore died as their boats were bombed in the Bangka
Straii, were killed by the Japanese upon landing or sullered and died in the harsh prison
camps. Although remembered by their families, many had no official recognition.

Muntok remained remote to Westerners for some time after the War. Dutch and British War
Investigators visited and the Dutch authorities moved their War dead from Muntok to Java in
1964, unlike the British, who allowed their civilian graves to remain untended in the town.
‘These graves now lie under houses and a petrol station and in a group grave. Political
instability and the swampy malarial climate were later deterrents to visilors.

L n 1979, Vivian Bullwinkel, the sole Australian Army Nurse to survive the massacre of 21
Nurses, civilians and about 60 British servicemen on Radji Beach on I'ebruary 16 1942
returned to Muntok to help choose a site for a Nurses” Memorial. A ceremony attended by
Nurses who survived the Camps was held in Muniok in 1980.

On February 17 1942, Mr Vivian Bowden, Australia’s Official Representative to Singapore
(the role now called * Ambassador™) was killed by 2 Japanese guards outside the Muntok
cinema. Mr Bowdcn had been remonstrating with Japancsc soldiers who were mistreating
Frank Brewer, a British soldier. Mr Bowdcn had been raised in Japan and spoke fluent
Japanese. When he explained his diplomatic status and asked to speak to a senior officer to
request proper treatment of the 1000 captives in the building, he was taken outside the
cincma, made to dig his own grave, gather a bunch of flowers and was then shot.

Now cach year on February 16 and 17, a larec number of Australian Army Nurses” families,
civilian internees’ families and Embassy staff from Australia, Britain and New Zealand
gather with Indonesian people for commemorative services. These take place at Mr
Bowden’s memorial, at the Peace Museum situated at the former Women’s prison camyp at
Kampong Menjelang and at Radji Beach, the site of the massacre.
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Commemoralive service, Radji Beach February 16 2020, Australian Defence Attaché, Australian
Ambassador, British and NZ Defence Attaches and Mr John Bullwinkel, nephew of Vivian Bullwinke]
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Lollowing the spontaneous actions ol current Australian Army Nurses who held hands and
walked into the water in 2017 and the [ndonesian Nurses and Doclors who gathered to throw
petals into the sea, the annual Walk for ITumanity is now held on the beach. All present hold
hands and walk towards the waler, throwing flowers, hoping and praying for Peace.
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Annual Walk for Humanity, Radji Beach, Muntok February 16 2020

This year, Radji Beach Nurses™ [amilies approached the Japanese Fmbassy in Australia to ask
if a representative may like to attend the services. Mr Takonai Susumu, the Political Advisor
to the Fmbassy of Japan in Indonesia joined us for the Commemorative Services, the Walk
for Humanity, a visit to the Muniok Peace Museum and also joined the Australian
Ambassador and the Ausiralian, British and New Zealand Delence Attaches in planting a rose
bush for Peace in the garden of former Prison Camp commandant Captain Seki Kazue.

Mr Takonai Susumu joins the Australian , British and New Zealand Embassy staffin planting of the
roscbush for Peace in Captain Seki Kazoc's former garden, Sudirman gues